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COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 
 

 1. The Plaintiff seeks declaratory and injunctive relief against the United States and the 

above-named federal officials (collectively, “the Defendants”) for their violations of the 

Administrative Procedure Act, 5 U.S.C. §§ 551 et seq, and the Take Care Clause, U.S. CONST. 

art. II, § 3, cl. 5. and 28 U.S. Code § 1361. 

2. This lawsuit is not about foreign policy. It is about the rule of law, presidential power, 

the structural limits of the U.S. Constitution, and the right of the public to understand the functions 

of government and informed petition of the government for redress. 

3. The White House and Israeli government are negotiating a new ten-year Memorandum 

of Understanding (MOU) to serve as the basis for a FY2019-2028 foreign aid package of $4-5 

billion annually.1 News reports claim the Israeli government is pressing for a final deal in August.2 

 4. Congress will soon pass and the President will sign into law the final installment of the 

current FY2009-2018 foreign aid package. The U.S. Treasury will provide an interest-bearing cash 

advance in October 2017 that Israel can use to fund its own military-industrial programs and 

purchase U.S. arms.  

5. To accomplish this, the President and many key agencies will follow the precedent of 

every administration since Gerald Ford by violating two longstanding amendments to the Foreign 

Aid Act of 1961, called the Symington & Glenn Amendments, which are currently codified in 22 

USC §2799aa-1: Nuclear reprocessing transfers, illegal exports for nuclear explosive devices, 

transfers of nuclear explosive devices, and nuclear detonations. Symington & Glenn prohibit U.S. 

                                                 
1 S.3117 - 114th Congress (2015-2016): Department of State, Foreign Operations, and Related 
Programs Appropriations Act, 2017 | Congress.gov | Library of Congress - 
https://www.congress.gov/bill/114th-congress/senate-bill/3117/text? 
2 Ben Caspit, “Can Israel close US aid deal before US elections?” Israel Pulse, ALMONITOR, July 
27, 2016. 
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foreign aid transfers to certain foreign states with nuclear weapons programs absent mandatory 

executive actions. Federal agencies such as the Department of Treasury, the Department of 

Defense, the Department of State, the Central Intelligence Agency and the Department of 

Commerce have acted unlawfully and in concert to help thwart Symington & Glenn. The 

Department of Energy in 2012 even created what amounts to a law criminalizing informed public 

federal agency discussions and analysis of the Israeli nuclear program in furtherance of 

undermining Symington and Glenn. 

 6. Defendants have collectively engaged in a violation of administrative procedure and the 

Take Care Clause by unlawful failure to act upon facts long in their possession while prohibiting 

the release of official government information about Israel’s nuclear weapons program, 

particularly ongoing illicit transfers of nuclear weapons material and technology from the U.S. to 

Israel. These violations manifest in gagging and prosecuting federal officials and contractors who 

publicly acknowledge Israel’s nuclear weapons program, imposing punitive economic costs on 

public interest researchers who attempt to educate the public about the functions of government, 

refusing to make bona fide responses to journalists and consistently failing to act on credible 

information available in the government and public domain. These acts serve a policy that has 

many names all referring to the same subterfuge, “nuclear opacity,” “nuclear ambiguity,” and 

“strategic ambiguity.” In this complaint it is simply referred to as “nuclear ambiguity.” 

 7. Such a unilateral suspension of the nation’s Arms Export Control laws through 

violations of sunshine laws, Administrative Procedure Act, and Take Care Clause is unlawful. 

Only this Court’s immediate intervention can offer redress to the Plaintiff's past and immanent 

future injuries and broader relief to American taxpayers who have suffered grave and ongoing 

harm since 1978. 
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I. THE PARTIES 

8. Plaintiff, Grant F. Smith, is a public interest researcher and founder of the Institute for 

Research: Middle Eastern Policy, Inc. (IRmep). Smith's FOIA, mandatory declassification review 

(MDR) and Interagency Security Classification Appeals Panel (ISCAP) generated releases, 

research and analysis have been published in The Washington Report on Middle East Affairs, The 

Wall Street Journal, Antiwar.com, The Washington Examiner, Mint Press News, LobeLog, the 

Bulletin of the Atomic Scientists, The Nation Magazine, The Weekly Standard, Military.com, The 

Jewish Daily Forward, Business Insider, and Courthouse News Service. They have been carried 

on broadcast outlets such as C-SPAN, public and commercial U.S. radio stations, foreign 

broadcasts transmitted by VOA, as well as foreign news agencies like the BBC, Radio France and 

RT. For nearly a decade, the Plaintiff’s rights to access information for use in vital public interest 

research have been violated by U.S. federal agencies.  

9. Defendant United States of America is sued under the Administrative Procedure Act 

(“APA”). See 5 U.S.C. § 703 (“[T]he action for judicial review may be brought against the United 

States.”). 

10. Defendant John O. Brennan, Director of the Central Intelligence Agency is sued under 

the Administrative Procedure Act (“APA”). The CIA violates the Administrative Procedure Act 

(“APA”). See 5 U.S.C. § 703 to unduly slow, delay and thwart the release of information about the 

Israeli nuclear weapons program through systemic efforts to thwart and impose unwarranted costs 

on outside Freedom of Information Act and other sunshine law requesters 

11. Defendant Ashton Carter is U.S. Secretary of Defense. Carter and is responsible for the 

Department of Defense’s violations of the Administrative Procedure Act (“APA”) to unduly slow, 

delay and thwart the release of information about the Israeli nuclear weapons program, punish 
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outside FOIA requesters through the non-payment of court-ordered settlements. Carter is also 

responsible for the Foreign Military Sales program which unlawfully transfers funding to weapons 

contractors supplying Israel and Israeli military companies even though Israel is an ineligible 

recipient under Symington & Glenn.  

12. Defendant John Kerry, is Secretary of State. Kerry and the U.S. Department of State 

violates the Administrative Procedure Act (“APA”) promulgating and defending and an unlawful 

gag law unduly slow, delay and thwart the release of information about the Israeli nuclear weapons 

program and punish federal employees, contractors, and outside sunshine law information 

requesters 

13. Defendant Jacob Lew is Secretary of U.S. Treasury and violates of the Administrative 

Procedure Act (“APA”) through the transfer of taxpayer funds to an ineligible recipient’s 

interest-bearing account and the Foreign Military Sales budget, and failure to transfer 

appropriation funding to Federal Agencies to satisfy their court-ordered legal obligations when 

they lose sunshine law cases about Israel's clandestine nuclear program. 

14. Defendant Ernest Moniz is Secretary of the U.S. Department of Energy and violates the 

Administrative Procedure Act (“APA”) by authorizing, and implementing a secret gag law that 

undermines Symington & Glenn. DOE also thwarts public interest researcher attempts to 

understand the functions of government through sunshine laws by denying releasable information 

about the gag law and its own reports about Israel's theft of U.S. government-owned 

weapons-grade uranium. 

15. Defendant Barack Obama is sued under 28 U.S. Code § 1361 - Action to compel an 

officer of the United States to perform his duty and the Administrative Procedure Act (“APA”). 

See 5 U.S.C. § 703 over his failure to uphold Symington & Glenn. 
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16. Defendant Penny Pritzker is Secretary of the U.S. Department of Commerce and 

violates the Administrative Procedures Act section known as the Freedom of Information Act 

through the application of reasonable fees for information requests seeking information about 

recent illicit transfers of U.S. nuclear weapons technology to Israel. 

 

II. JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

17. The Court has federal question jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1331 because this action 

arises under the U.S. Constitution, art. II, § 3, cl. 5, and the APA, 5 U.S.C. § 706. The Court also 

has jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1346 because this is a civil action or claim against the United 

States. This court particularly has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(B). 

Finally, the Court has jurisdiction to compel an officer or employee of the above-named federal 

agencies to perform his or her duty under 28 U.S.C. § 1361. 

18. Venue is proper in this District under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(e) because the Plaintiff is a 

resident of this judicial district, and a substantial part of the events or omissions giving rise to the 

Plaintiffs’ claims occurred in this District. 

19. This Court is authorized to award the requested declaratory and injunctive relief under 

the Declaratory Judgment Act, 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201-2202, the APA, 5 U.S.C. § 706, and 28 U.S.C. § 

1361 which provides that “the district courts shall have original jurisdiction of any action in the 

nature of mandamus to compel an officer or employee of the United States or any agency thereof 

to perform a duty owed to the plaintiff.” 
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III. FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

A. The Symington Amendment 

 20. In 1976 the Ford Administration and Congress addressed growing concerns about the 

proliferation of nuclear weapons materials and technology undermining the U.S.-led worldwide 

implementation of the Nuclear Non-proliferation Treaty (NPT). Senator Stuart Symington held 

hearings in 1975 and 1976 as chair of the Subcommittee on Arms Control, International 

Organizations and Security Agreements. The International Security Assistance and Arms Export 

Control Act of 1976 (HR 13680) amended the Foreign Assistance Act of 1961 to prohibit U.S. aid 

to any non-NPT signatory building up a nuclear weapons program by acquiring the necessary 

equipment and materials outside International Atomic Energy Agency safeguards, and/or 

transferring such equipment to other states. The Symington Amendment permitted the president to 

provide U.S. foreign aid to violators only if within 30 days he “determines and certifies in writing 

to the Speaker of the House of Representatives and the Committee on Foreign Relations of the 

Senate that A) The termination of such assistance would have a serious adverse effect on vital 

United States interest; and b) he has received reliable assurances that the country in question will 

not acquire or develop nuclear weapons or assist other nations in doing so.”
3 [Exhibit 1]  

21. Symington summarized the legislative intent of his amendment in a committee report. 

“In effect, this amendment says to other nations, if you wish to take the dangerous and costly steps 

                                                 
3 “International Security Assistance and Arms Export Control Act of 1976,” Public Law 94-329, 
94t Congress, H.R. 13680, June 30, 1976, section “Nuclear Transfers,” p 1210-1211 
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necessary to achieve a nuclear weapons option, you cannot expect the United States to help 

underwrite that effort indirectly or directly.”
4 [Exhibit 2] 

B. The Glenn Amendment 

22. According to formerly classified, heavily redacted CIA files released to the Plaintiff in 

related litigation on November 4, 2015, (See Smith v. CIA, 2015, case no. 00224, District of 

Columbia) Senator John Glenn in 1977 became extremely concerned that Israel was stealing and 

diverting U.S. government-owned weapons-grade uranium from the Nuclear Materials and 

Equipment Corporation or NUMEC, a U.S. government contractor that processed nuclear fuel for 

the U.S. Navy, into its own nuclear weapons program at Dimona. The CIA filed an internal memo 

dated August 6, 1977 containing Glenn’s questions to CIA Associate Deputy Director for 

Operations Theodore Shackley, in which Glenn asked Shackley, “Was or is there any evidence of 

a conspiracy to divert nuclear materials from the U.S. to Israel?”
5 [Exhibit 3] 

 23. Under Glenn's leadership in 1977 Congress enacted H.R. 6884 Nuclear Enrichment 

And Reprocessing Transfers; Nuclear Detonations, popularly known as the “Glenn Amendment” 

which extended the Symington Act’s prohibitions over U.S. aid to non-NPT signatory states 

engaged in weapons program activities, while still permitting the President to provide foreign aid 

if he certified in writing to the Speaker of the House of Representatives and the Committee on 

Foreign Relations “that the termination of such assistance would be seriously prejudicial to the 

                                                 

4 “6/30/976 HR13680 International Security Assistance and Arms Export Control Act of 1976 

(3),” National Archives and Records Administration, Collection GRF-0055: White House Records 
Office: Legislation Case Files, 8/9/1974 - 1/20/1977, page 52 
https://catalog.archives.gov/id/12008722 

5 “Briefing of Senator John Glenn, Democrat, Ohio, on the NUMEC Case” CIA Memorandum for 

the Record, page 8, approved for declassification and release on August 25, 2015 in response to 
Smith v CIA, case 1:15-cv-00224 
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achievement of the United States nonproliferation objectives or otherwise jeopardize the common 

defense and security.” Such waivers required he clearly provide a “statement setting forth the 

specific reasons there for.” [Exhibit 4] 

 24. Such sanctions and waivers in compliance with Symington & Glenn have been invoked 

numerous times in the past. Sanctions were imposed by President William J. Clinton against India 

on May 13, 1998. This was two days after India broke a self-imposed 24-year moratorium on 

nuclear testing. President William J. Clinton invoked similar sanctions against Pakistan on May 

30, 1998 following six Pakistani nuclear tests between May 28 and 30.6 The U.S. President also 

issued the required waivers for continued aid to violators of Symington & Glenn on at least six 

occasions.7 However, none of these sanctions or waivers have ever been properly invoked over 

Israel’s activities. There is no option that allows the U.S. President to pretend he does not or cannot 

know about actions that trigger aid cutoff or the need to invoke waivers. Rather, aid cutoff or 

waiver issuance are required Symington & Glenn duties under the Take Care Clause of the U.S. 

Constitution whenever statutory circumstances arise.  

22 USC 2799aa-1 

 25. The core provisions of the Symington and Glenn Amendments, as amended, are today 

found in 22 USC 2799aa-1: Nuclear reprocessing transfers, illegal exports for nuclear explosive 

devices, transfers of nuclear explosive devices, and nuclear detonations. [Exhibit 5] 

  

                                                 
6 Robert M. Hathaway, “Confrontation and Retreat; The U.S. Congress and the South Asian 

Nuclear Tests” Arms Control Association, Arms Control Today. January 1, 2000 
7 “Waiver of Certain Sanctions Against India and Pakistan,” 22 U.S. Code § 2799aa 1 - Nuclear 
reprocessing transfers, illegal exports for nuclear explosive devices, transfers of nuclear explosive 
devices, and nuclear detonations, https://www.law.cornell.edu/uscode/text/22/2799aa-1 
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C. Israel is a non-NPT nuclear weapons state 

26. Israel has long had a nuclear weapons program and continually engages in activities 

which should trigger the cited provisions of Symington & Glenn. Among the most authoritative 

and complete recently released status updates about Israel’s nuclear weapons program was 

contained in Critical Technology Assessment in Israel and NATO Nations, a report chartered by 

the U.S. Department of Defense, prepared for the Office of the Under Secretary of Defense and 

presented in April of 1987.  

27. The report was publicly released through an unnecessarily arduous Freedom of 

Information Act lawsuit before this court on February 10, 2015. The report revealed the advanced 

state of Israel’s program in 1987: "The SOREQ and the Dimona/Beer Shiva facilities are the 

equivalent of our Los Alamos, Lawrence Livermore and Oak Ridge National Laboratories. The 

SOREQ center runs the full nuclear gamut of activities from engineering, administration and 

non-destructive testing to electro-optics, pulsed power, process engineering and chemistry and 

nuclear research and safety. This is the technology base required for nuclear weapons design and 

fabrication." Israel’s nuclear weapons facilities’ were essentially a scaled-down version of U.S. 

facilities says the report, "The capability of SOREQ to support SDIO and nuclear technologies is 

almost an exact parallel of the capability currently existing at our National Laboratories." Israel’s 

ambitions were not limited to simple gun-type Hiroshima bombs, but the most power nuclear 

weapons since Israel was according to the report "developing the kind of codes which will enable 
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them to make hydrogen bombs. That is, codes which detail fission and fusion processes on a 

microscopic and macroscopic level."8 

  

                                                 
8 Edwin S. Townsley and Clarence A. Robinson "Critical Technology Assessment in Israel and 
NATO Nations" Prepared for Office of the Under Secretary of Defense (International Programs 
and Technology) April, 1987 online at http://irmep.org/cfp/dod/071987_ctaiiann.pdf 
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D. Israel’s activities should trigger sanctions or waivers under Symington & Glenn 

Amendment provisions in force at the time 

28. Israel has continually set up front organizations in the United States to build up its 

copycat nuclear weapons program facilities. 

29. Sasha Polakow-Suransky received his doctorate in history from Oxford. From 2011 to 

2015 he was a foreign policy and international affairs op-ed editor at the New York Times and the 

author of The Unspoken Alliance: Israelʼs Secret Relationship with Apartheid South Africa, which 

was published in 2010. In 2010 Polakow-Suransky9 publicly released declassified South African 

government documents showing that Israel attempted to sell nuclear weapons to apartheid South 

Africa in 1975.10  

30. Later, on September 22, 1979 an American Vela Hotel satellite detected the “double 

flash” of a joint Israeli-apartheid South Africa nuclear test near South Africa’s Prince Edward 

Islands off Antarctica. The U.S. government has tried to keep most of the information about the 

so-called “Vela incident” classified for reasons that become obvious, but critical facts have 

emerged. The joint Israeli-South African test was a clear violation of Symington & Glenn Act 

prohibitions on U.S. aid to “a non-nuclear weapons state” that “detonates a nuclear explosive 

device.” The Israeli nuclear weapons technology transfers that commenced before Symington & 

Glenn took effect, documented by Polakow-Suransky, but which carried on through the 1979 joint 

nuclear test made Israel and South Africa either ineligible for U.S. aid or subject to waivers under 

prohibitions on a country that “(1) delivers nuclear reprocessing equipment, materials, or 

                                                 
9  
10 Chris McGreal, “Revealed: how Israel offered to sell South Africa nuclear weapons: Secret 

apartheid-era papers give first official evidence of Israeli nuclear weapons” The Guardian, May 
24, 2010 https://www.theguardian.com/world/2010/may/23/israel-south-africa-nuclear-weapons  
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technology to any other country or receives such equipment, materials, or technology from any 

other country (except for the transfer of reprocessing technology associated with the investigation, 

under international evaluation programs in which the United States participates, of technologies 

which are alternatives to pure plutonium reprocessing) ; or (2) is not a nuclear-weapon state as 

defined in article IX(3) of the Treaty on the Non-Proliferation of Nuclear Weapons and 21 UST 

483 which detonates a nuclear explosive device.” [See Exhibit 3] 

31. Despite the law in force at that time, in 1979 the United States provided an 

inflation-adjusted $16 billion in foreign aid that year to Israel ($4.888 billion).11 

32. In 2002 convicted American nuclear technology smuggler Richard Kelly Smyth was 

debriefed by the FBI. According to Smyth, the Israeli Ministry of Defense employed a network of 

front companies to smuggle sensitive nuclear weapons technology out of the United States. The 

illegal exports uncovered by the FBI between 1979 and 1983 included 15 shipments, totaling 800 

“krytron” devices which are used as nuclear weapons triggers.12 Although the U.S. prosecuted 

Smyth, a low-level operative, none of the required Symington & Glenn sanctions or waivers were 

subsequently implemented. Israeli members of the smuggling ring named in the FBI report 

included present-day Israeli Prime Minister Benjamin Netanyahu and Hollywood producer Arnon 

Milchan, who has recently admitted to many such dealings.13 

                                                 
11 Jeremy M. Sharp, “US Foreign Aid to Israel” June 10, 2015, 

https://www.fas.org/sgp/crs/mideast/RL33222.pdf 
12 Heavily redacted FBI investigation files released under Mandatory Declassification Review 
2012-00006: MILCO International Incorporated/Nuclear technology exports to Israel, FOIPA 
116-5836-001, June 24, 2015. http://www.israellobby.org/krytons/06242016_milchan.pdf 
13 Grant F. Smith “Netanyahu Worked Inside Nuclear Smuggling Ring” Antiwar.com July 4, 2012 
http://original.antiwar.com/smith-grant/2012/07/03/netanyahu-worked-inside-nuclear-smuggling
-ring/ 
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33. A clear pattern has emerged. Rather than properly respond to government and 

information in the public domain to enforce Symington & Glenn as required, the President and 

federal agencies instead thwart it by violating the Administrative Procedures Act, in particular 

government sunshine laws (FOIA, but also MDR), through improper classification, threatening 

federal employees fines, imprisonment, unwarranted fees and refusing to properly respond to 

information requests. Again, the broader umbrella under which this unlawful activity falls has a 

name. It is called “nuclear ambiguity.”14  

E. The Defendants violate the Symington and Glenn Amendments through “nuclear 

ambiguity” 

34. Rather than publicly acknowledge Israel’s status as a nuclear weapons state (as they do 

for every other nuclear weapons state, whether or not it is a signatory to the NPT) and enforce 

Symington & Glenn, presidents and federal agencies have instead erected a subterfuge to rule of 

law known as “nuclear ambiguity.” The leading expert on the relevant history is Avner Cohen. 

Cohen is a historian, professor and writer most known for his works about Israel's clandestine 

nuclear history and strategic policy. He is the Director of the Education Program and Senior 

Fellow at the James Martin Center for Nonproliferation Studies, and a Professor at the Middlebury 

Institute of International Studies. His books include Israel and the Bomb, a 1998 history of Israel's 

nuclear weapons. In 2010 Cohen released The Worst-Kept Secret, an aptly-titled book which is 

entirely about the development of “nuclear ambiguity” and why it should be ended. Cohen 

summarized the launch of the policy of “refusing to confirm or deny” the existence of Israel's 

nuclear arsenal:  

                                                 
14 Other names include “strategic ambiguity” and “nuclear ambiguity.”  
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The policy and practice of nuclear opacity was codified in 1969 in an 

extraordinary secret accord between Israeli Prime Minister Golda Meir and 

U.S. President Richard Nixon. Although this agreement has never been 

openly acknowledged or documented, its existence was revealed in 1991 by 

the Israeli journalist Aluf Benn, and more information came out in some 

recently declassified memos regarding Nixon's 1969 meeting with Meir 

written by Nixon's national security adviser, Henry Kissinger. According to 

the Nixon-Meir pact, as long as Israel did not advertise its possession of 

nuclear weapons by publicly declaring or testing them, the United States 

would tolerate and shield Israel's nuclear program.15 

35. Since providing U.S. foreign aid to a non-signatory to the NPT with a nuclear weapons 

program became subject to Symington & Glenn arms export laws passed by the Congress, from 

the Ford administration until the present day members of the executive branch have engaged in 

continuing misrepresentation while in office whenever they are asked about Israel's nuclear 

weapons program. The following are a few examples. 

36. Veteran White House reporter Helen Thomas asked President Barack Obama about 

Israel's status as a nuclear weapons state on February 9, 2009: 

Helen Thomas: Mr. President, do you think that Pakistan and -- are 

maintaining the safe havens in Afghanistan for these so-called terrorists? 

And, also, do you know of any country in the Middle East that has nuclear 

weapons?  

                                                 
15 Avner Cohen, Marvin Miller "Brining Israel's Bomb Out of the Basement" Foreign Affairs, 
September/October 2010. https://www.ciaonet.org/catalog/19614 
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37. President Obama chose to focus at length on Afghanistan, dodge the nuclear Middle 

East question, and quickly get another reporter to ask him other questions, as revealed in CNN’s 

official transcript: 

Obama: Well, I think that Pakistan -- there is no doubt that, in the FATA 

region of Pakistan, in the mountainous regions along the border of 

Afghanistan, that there are safe havens where terrorists are operating. 

And one of the goals of Ambassador Holbrooke, as he is traveling 

throughout the region, is to deliver a message to Pakistan that they are 

endangered as much as we are by the continuation of those operations and 

that we've got to work in a regional fashion to root out those safe havens. 

It's not acceptable for Pakistan or for us to have folks who, with impunity, 

will kill innocent men, women and children. And, you know, I -- I believe 

that the new government of Pakistan and -- and Mr. [President Asif Ali] 

Zardari cares deeply about getting control of the situation. We want to be 

effective partners with them on that issue. 

Question: (off mic) 

Obama: Well, Mr. Holbrooke is there, and that's exactly why he's being sent 

there, because I think that we have to make sure that Pakistan is a stalwart 

ally with us in battling this terrorist threat. 

With respect to nuclear weapons, you know, I don't want to speculate. What 

I know is this: that if we see a nuclear arms race in a region as volatile as the 

Middle East, everybody will be in danger. 

And one of my goals is to prevent nuclear proliferation generally. I think 

that it's important for the United States, in concert with Russia, to lead the 

way on this. 
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And, you know, I've mentioned this in conversations with the Russian 

president, Mr. [Dmitry] Medvedev, to let him know that it is important for us 

to restart the -- the conversations about how we can start reducing our 

nuclear arsenals in an effective way so that... 

(CROSSTALK) 

Obama: ... so that we then have the standing to go to other countries and 

start stitching back together the nonproliferation treaties that, frankly, have 

been weakened over the last several years. OK. 

Question: Why do you have to speculate on who has... 

(CROSSTALK) 

Obama: All right. Sam Stein, Huffington Post. Where's Sam? Here. Go 

ahead.16 

38. George W. Bush administration officials similarly dodged questions about Israel's 

nuclear program put to them by the Communications Director of the Institute for Public Accuracy, 

Sam Husseini. As the founder of the website WashingtonStakeout.com, Husseini repeatedly asked 

executive branch officials during media opportunities, as they left Sunday morning talk shows and 

other venues, to confirm or deny the existence of an Israeli nuclear weapons program. The 

following transcripts were derived from a video documentary of his efforts.17  

39. September 10, 2006 Vice President Dick Cheney 

Sam Husseini "Welcome!  

                                                 
16 CNN Transcript, "Obama takes questions on the economy," February 9, 2009. 
http://www.cnn.com/2009/POLITICS/02/09/obama.conference.transcript/ 
17 Sam Husseini and Chris Belcher, Stakeout: Israel Nuclear. Sam Husseini asks US government 
officials why they won't acknowledge the existence of Israel's nuclear arsenal.  
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Vice President Dick Cheney "Good morning." 

Sam Husseini "Do you know that Israel has nuclear weapons, Mr. Vice 

President?" 

Cheney enters vehicle but does not respond. 

Sam Husseini "Does Israel have nuclear weapons?" 

40. December 20, 2006, John Negroponte, Director of National Intelligence 

Sam Husseini "Do you know that Israel has nuclear weapons?" 

John Negroponte, Director of National Intelligence: "I'm. I don't (shaking 

head) want to get into a discussion about, uh..." 

Sam Husseini "You can't comment on whether or not Israel has nuclear 

weapons?" 

John Negroponte "…about Israel's nuclear powers, thank you very much." 

Sam Husseini "How can you expect to have any credibility on the Middle 

East if you can't say whether Israel has nuclear weapons?" 

John Negroponte walks away. 

Sam Husseini "Mr. Ambassador, you're head of National Intelligence. You 

can't say whether Israel has nuclear weapons?" 

Security detail [unintelligible] 

Sam Husseini "No, he didn't answer the question. If he answered the 

question I'd go away." 
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41. February 25, 2007 Secretary of State Condoleezza Rice 

Sam Husseini "Secretary Rice, please, it's an important question. I don't 

think you've been asked this question. How do you reconcile. Madam 

Secretary, does Israel have nuclear weapons? Can you answer that? It’s a 

very simple question.  

Secretary of State Condoleezza Rice does not respond. 

Sam Husseini: "Secretary [of Defense Robert] Gates said that they did, 

implied it in his confirmation hearings. Please? Please? They're two very 

simple questions."  

F. Federal Agencies directly subject employees, contractors, and indirectly public 

interest watchdogs to an unlawful “gag” order over Israel’s nuclear weapons 

program under “nuclear ambiguity.” 

42. Until the Obama administration, the executive branch traditionally led federal agencies 

by example in how to violate the Take Care Clause of the U.S. Constitution and the Administrative 

Procedure Act by pretending to have no knowledge of Israel’s nuclear weapons program, how 

Symington & Glenn apply to information in the public domain and how to ignore public requests 

for information about U.S. policy towards Israel’s nuclear weapons. However, as public awareness 

about Israel’s nuclear weapons and calls for accountability have grown, in parallel with the growth 

of alternative news media, the U.S. Department of Energy and U.S. Department of State 

unlawfully conspired to codify “nuclear ambiguity” through a new secret gag law targeting any 

U.S. federal government employee or contractor from publicly communicating about the Israel’s 

nuclear weapons program under threat of immediate employment loss, fines and imprisonment. 

The Plaintiff knows of no other country-specific secret U.S. federal gag law of this kind. Its main 
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impact is perpetuating the continued violation of Symington & Glenn through “nuclear 

ambiguity.” 

43. Citing classification powers derived from the U.S. Department of State Classification 

Guide 05 D: January 200518 the Department of Energy sewed out of whole cloth a new law to gag 

federal agencies on September 6, 2012. It is “Classification Bulletin WNP-136,” and fully titled 

Guidance on Release of Information Relating to the Potential for an Israeli Nuclear Capability. 

The bulletin is used to harshly punish (and therefore deter) any covered party who dares 

mention or release via government sunshine laws any information officially confirming that 

Israel is a nuclear weapons state. (Exhibit 6) Punishment under WPN-136 is swift and harsh: 

Los Alamos National Laboratory nuclear analyst James Doyle wrote 

candidly about Israel’s nuclear weapons for a magazine in 2013. After a 

congressional staffer read the article, which had passed a classification 

review, it was referred to classification officials for a second review. Doyle’s 

pay was then cut, his home computer searched, and he was fired.19 

44. That Classification Bulletin WNP-136 is a violation of administrative procedure 

designed to perpetuate the undermining of Symington & Glenn is made obvious consulting the 

authority from which the gag law it is derived. U.S. Department of State Classification Guide 05 D 

recommends that “Reporting on and analysis of the internal affairs or foreign relations of a country 

is a central function of U.S. foreign service posts and is vital to the formulation and execution of 

U.S. foreign policy. This reporting should be unclassified when the subject matter is routine, 

                                                 
18 Department of State Classification Guide (DSCG 05-01) January 2005, Edition1 
https://www.fas.org/sgp/othergov/dos-class.pdf 
19 Grant F. Smith “Lawsuit challenges U.S. Ambiguity toward Israel’s Nuclear Arsenal” Special 

Report, Washington Report on Middle East Affairs, January/February 2015 
http://www.wrmea.org/2015-january-february/lawsuit-challenges-u.s.-ambiguity-toward-israels-
nuclear-arsenal.html 
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already in the public domain, or otherwise not sensitive.”
20 Public knowledge of Israel’s 

possession of nuclear weapons blossomed in 1986 when an Israeli worker at Israel’s Dimona 

nuclear weapons facility, Mordecai Vanunu, smuggled out photos of underground nuclear 

weapons development which were published in the London Sunday Times.21 Investigative reporter 

Seymour Hersh’s 1991 book The Samson Option: Israel’s Nuclear Arsenal and American Foreign 

Policy further exposed the program. A statistically significant September, 2014 Google Consumer 

Survey revealed that 63.9 percent of American adults believe Israel has nuclear weapons.22 

Information already in the public domain indicates that if the U.S. Department of State’s 

classification guidelines were properly invoked, federal employees would be encouraged to be 

more informative not completely muzzled about Israel’s nuclear program, its implications for 

proliferation and for U.S. policy. The only explanation for punishing knowledgeable federal 

government employees is that the gag order is designed to thwart proper abidance of Symington & 

Glenn. 

45. The Department of Energy, in consultation with the Department of State, claims the full 

contents of classification bulletin WNP-136 itself are sensitive “National Security Information” 

that will never be publicly released. DOE also will not release any information about how or why, 

and what precise issues this derivative gag order was created to address, or the identities of its 

internal and external champions. Its partial release therefore clarifies only one thing: an effort in 

violation of the Administrative Procedures Act to protect violations of Symington & Glenn. 

                                                 
20 Department of State Classification Guide (DSCG 05-01) January 2005, Edition1, pp 13-14 
https://www.fas.org/sgp/othergov/dos-class.pdf 
21 “The secrets of Israel’s nuclear arsenal revealed” The Sunday Times, October 5, 1986. 
22 Google Consumer Survey, “Do you believe Israel Has Nuclear Weapons?” 

http://www.google.com/insights/consumersurveys/view?survey 7gfftskexqbf4&question 1&filt
er &rw 1 
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46. On February 18, 2015 the plaintiff filed an electronic FOIA request with the 

Department of Energy seeking the full release of WPN-136. On February 23, 2015 the U.S. 

Department of Energy confirmed receipt and assigned the request number HQ-2015-00699-F 

categorizing the Plaintiff as a “news media” requestor. [Exhibit 7] On July 16, 2015 Andrea 

Bowman of the DOE FOIA office indicated by telephone that she did not anticipate any 

complications releasing the bulletin, but informed the Plaintiff that the U.S. Department of State 

was reviewing it.  

47. On August 20, 2015 the Department of Energy released WPN-136, nearly 90 percent 

redacted. [Exhibit 6] On August 25 the Plaintiff appealed HQ-2015-00699-F for an unredacted 

copy. On February 12, 2016 DOE denied the appeal for unredacted release of WPN-136, 

exhausting the plaintiff’s administrative remedies. [Exhibit 8]  

48. On August 25, 2015 the Plaintiff filed a separate FOIA seeking “all cross referenced 

information on the development of WPN-136, including but not limited to, key task force 

members, consultations with foreign governments, input from other federal agencies and the 

executive branch, edits and modifications, drafts of WPN-136 and agency information that 

identifies the perceived need for and justification for such a regulation.” On September 3, 2015 the 

Department of Energy confirmed receipt and assigned the request number HQ-2015-01766-F. 

[Exhibit 9] No response has been forthcoming from the Department of Energy within the 

statutorily-allowed response timeframe, exhausting the Plaintiff’s administrative remedies. 

49. In addition to this blanket gag order over federal employees who could otherwise better 

inform Americans about the implications of Israel’s nuclear weapons, “nuclear ambiguity” thwarts 

government sunshine laws and subverts government agency interactions with the public because 

federal agencies refuse to process, charge exorbitant search/reproduction or other fees for requests 
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designed to unduly delay FOIA records requests about Israel's nuclear weapons, materials and 

technology transfers, and halt the release of related information in court cases after the 

administrative process has ended. These “nuclear ambiguity” policies of thwarting government 

sunshine laws and proper administrative procedure are key to the continued Symington & Glenn 

violations and have directly injured the plaintiff.  

50. A prime example of the "nuclear ambiguity" tactic of imposing unusual and excessive 

search fees was used in an attempt to thwart the plaintiff's FOIAs seeking government information 

about Israel's most recent illegal nuclear weapons technology transfers. §2799aa 1 as amended 

currently prohibits foreign assistance to any a non-nuclear-weapon state which, on or after August 

8, 1985, "exports illegally (or attempts to export illegally) from the United States any material, 

equipment, or technology which would contribute significantly to the ability of such country to 

manufacture a nuclear explosive device..." 

51. On June 6, 2012 the Plaintiff filed a FOIA with the Bureau of Industry and Security 

(BIS) of the US Department of Commerce about an investigation of a U.S.-based Israeli company 

called "Telogy." On July 2, 2012 BIS informed the Plaintiff that search and duplication fees for his 

request would cost an estimated $6,984.50 (plus additional per-page fees.) BIS further informed 

the Plaintiff that he would have to pay this fee "even if no responsive documents are located or if 

responsive documents are determined to be exempt from disclosure under any applicable FOIA 

exemptions." BIS demanded immediate payment by August 1, 2012 "to begin processing" the 

request, advising the Plaintiff that "otherwise, your request will be automatically closed." [Exhibit 

10]. 

52. It is very clear to the Plaintiff why BIS wanted to crush the FOIA through excessive 

fees. In a single investigative file BIS internally verified that a front company for Israel engaged in 
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23 instances of arms export violations subjecting Israel to Symington & Glenn, including 22 illegal 

oscilloscope exports [Exhibit 11]: 

In the attached Schedule of Violations, which is incorporated herein by 

reference, on 22 occasions between on or about April 29, 2003 and on or 

about March 23, 2007, IT engaged in conduct prohibited by the Regulations 

when it reexported oscilloscopes controlled for nuclear non-proliferation 

reasons from Belgium to Israel without the Department of Commerce 

License required by Section 742.3 of the Regulations. By engaging in the 

conduct, TI committed 22 violations of Section 764.2(a) of the Regulations.23  

53. Presumably, it was the BIS's intention that the Plaintiff not obtain the files or write 

news stories about Telogy's illegal transfer of nuclear weapons-related technology, since this 

single Telogy case warranted an immediate application of sanctions or waivers under §2799aa 1. 

It was not the only such recent case bottled up inside BIS that was not properly acted upon by the 

administration. 

54. Between 2006-2008 yet another nuclear weapons technology smuggling front for 

Israel, California based Mattson, shipped pressure transducers to Israel. Pressure transducers 

measure the gas pressure inside centrifuge cascades. They are considered dual-use equipment with 

nuclear weapons applications. Mattson knowingly but surreptitiously  incorporated pressure 

transducers into semiconductor equipment to be smuggled to customers, failing to obtain the 

proper U.S. export licenses. Again, no sanctions under §2799aa 1 were applied to one country 

importing the nuclear weapons technology Israel.24 The statute explicitly makes Israel culpable, 

                                                 
23 Proposed Charging Letter send to Telogy International NV from BIS. Obtained by the Plaintiff 
from the Institute for Science and International Security as an encrypted .PDF 
24 “Case Study  U.S. Company Charged with Pressure Transducer Sales: Who were the End 
Users?” Institute for Science and International Security, May 14, 2012 
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since "an export (or attempted export) by a person who is an agent of, or is otherwise acting on 

behalf of or in the interests of, a country shall be considered to be an export (or attempted export) 

by that country." Telogy and Mattson were clearly just such agents. 

55. Most of the "nuclear ambiguity" anti-sunshine law tactics were waged against the 

Plaintiff at great injury in an attempt to thwart release of the previously referenced Critical 

Technology Assessment in Israel and NATO Nations. The unclassified report explicitly covers the 

advanced developmental state of Israel's nuclear weapons program as it existed in 1987 and makes 

it plain that Israel is a "non-nuclear-weapon state" that has a nuclear weapons program subject to 

Symington & Glenn Amendment provisions in force at the time. Under normal government 

guidelines, the report would have been publicly available a decade after its publication, if not 

sooner. Instead, the Department of Defense fought to keep the unclassified report from being 

publicly released. 

56. The Plaintiff’s previous complaint filed in Smith v DoD, 2014, No. 01611, District of 

Columbia reveals that in order to thwart release of the report, the US Department of Defense 

repeatedly violated statutory FOIA deadlines. From December 5, 2011 until the Plaintiff filed a 

lawsuit on September 23, 2014, the DoD forced the Plaintiff to file FOIAs to multiple departments 

of DoD because it claimed the report could not be located even though it was later revealed it had 

determined its precise location.  

57. After the Plaintiff filed suit the DoD falsely claimed that "non-disclosure agreements" 

prohibited release of the report, though it could never locate any to present in court. DoD then 

sought three time extensions, the last in order to consult with Israeli government officials about 

                                                                                                                                                             
http://isis-online.org/isis-reports/detail/case-study-u.s.-company-charged-with-pressure-transduc
er-sales-who-were-the/ 
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releasing the U.S. report, an unnecessary step outside normal release procedures for a U.S. 

government chartered, taxpayer-funded study. The report was finally released on February 10, 

2015. 

58. The administrative and legal overhead cost the Plaintiff $10,328 and $624.78 in court 

fees and expenses. Although subject to a court order to reimburse the Plaintiff, the DoD never 

complied, even after receiving a reminder 100 days after the conclusion of the lawsuit. [Exhibit 12] 

Meanwhile, the DoD played its normal role in the FY2016 military aid transfers to Israel in 

October of 2015 and now plans to handle funds for the last of ten transfers ending in FY2017 (in 

October, 2016) while ignoring reminders and refusing to rectify the financial injuries sustained by 

the Plaintiff, a direct casualty of "nuclear ambiguity." There is a direct causal connection between 

the defendants’ illegal nuclear ambiguity policy on the Israeli nuclear weapons program and 

financial injuries to the Plaintiff. The Plaintiff alleges he is being punished by DoD for breeching 

“nuclear ambiguity” and as a warning to Plaintiff and others not to seek other such 

government-held information that undermines “nuclear ambiguity” and erodes its ability to violate 

Symington & Glenn. 

59. Placed in historical context these individual FOIA violations buttressed by the gag 

order and executive conduct reveal the underlying cause of the injury is the unlawful, 

unconstitutional “nuclear ambiguity” policy and not the bureaucratic obstacles faced by any filer 

seeking sensitive government records under existing sunshine laws.  

60. This “nuclear ambiguity” conduct is similarly applied by federal agencies in 

Mandatory Declassification Reviews, which differ from FOIA in that final appeals must be heard 

by the Interagency Security Classification Appeals Panel (ISCAP) rather than a district court. 
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Given that, the preferred agency tactic is to claim the documents in question simply cannot be 

located. 

61. One Plaintiff MDR request reveals why the Department of Energy is such a key 

“nuclear ambiguity” enforcement agency, and the “inability to find key reports” tactic. According 

to the official diary of former Atomic Energy Commission Chairman Glenn T. Seaborg, two 

Department of Energy officials visited him on June 21, 1978 from 2:15-315 PM. Bill Knauf and 

Jim Anderson of the DOE Division of Inspection told Seaborg (who was at the time retired) that 

traces of weapons-grade uranium-235 of a special signature and unusually high enrichment level 

provided to AEC’s Pennsylvania contractor NUMEC had been picked up in Israel.25 If the DOE 

properly advised the President of this evidence of diversion, Symington & Glenn sanctions or 

waivers would have been required. On October 26, 2011 the Plaintiff requested a copy of the DOE 

security office report that Knauf and Anderson produced. [Exhibit 13] On March 15, 2012 the 

Department of Energy claimed it could not locate the report, denying the Mandatory 

Declassification Review request, thwarting any possible declassification review by ISCAP. 

(Exhibit 15) As noted previously, DOE put its WPN-136 gag law into place just six months later, 

which the Plaintiff believes was not coincidental. 

62 The U.S. Central Intelligence Agency rigorously follows “nuclear ambiguity” policy to 

thwart accountability and transparency. In 1978, the very year Symington & Glenn both required 

sanctions or waivers, in an internal memo the CIA specifically designated its NUMEC files on the 

illegal diversion of nuclear materials to Israel as a FOIA problem the agency had to overcome. 

[Exhibit 15] Today the agency continues to shield its more than quarter-century old classified 

                                                 
25 See also Roger Mattson, Stealing the Bomb: How Denial and Deception Armed Israel, 
CreateSpace Independent Publishing, February 16, 2016 



- 28 - 

 

NUMEC operational files from public release even though such files are now releasable under the 

CIA Information Act of 1985 and other declassification guidelines. (See Smith v. CIA, 2015, case 

no. 00224, District of Columbia). The CIA also is fighting in court to shield from public scrutiny 

the amount of U.S. intelligence aid delivered to Israel, said by President Obama to be 

“unprecedented.”26 This category of top line budget number has been released in the past. (See 

Smith v. CIA, 2015, case no. 01431, District of Columbia). Combined, these two unlawful 

applications of “nuclear ambiguity” have cost the Plaintiff $12,795 in FOIA administrative and 

litigation costs and are likely to generate further injury in the near future.  

63. The Plaintiff’s remedies are exhausted. The plaintiff cannot avail himself of 

administrative processes under 5 U.S.C. § 552, MDR or any other means because of illegal 

“nuclear ambiguity” violations of the Administrative Procedure Act. Petitions to the Congress 

over his injuries-in-fact are unavailable. The Plaintiff is a resident of the District of Columbia, and 

does not have a voting member of Congress with the powers to legislate any kind of relief. 

Moreover, the Congress is both a subject and party to the same forces that demand “nuclear 

ambiguity” and has repeatedly demonstrated a preference for avoiding the question much like 

members of the administration. A 2008 congressional report on nuclear proliferation excludes 

Israel and carefully does “not take a position on the existence of Israeli nuclear weapons.” The 

plaintiff therefore has no alternative, fully adequate remedy available. 

64. The Plaintiff injuries quantified herein are real, but pale in comparison to those of 

American taxpayers that have been victimized by the violations of Symington & Glenn. Since 

1976, an estimated $234 billion has been transferred to Israel in the form of U.S. taxpayer-funded 

foreign aid publicly in the form of weapons and economic aid and secretly as intelligence 

                                                 
26 https://www.whitehouse.gov/the-press-office/2015/08/05/remarks-president-iran-nuclear-deal 
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support.27 Some of this intelligence support even includes raw intelligence on American citizens, 

which in addition to being questionable, invasive, and likely illegal under other statutes; also 

qualify as aid subject to Symington & Glenn provisions.28 

65. The plaintiff and public will imminently suffer further direct and indirect injury as final 

installments of a ten-year $30 billion aid deal are paid immediately under special arrangement in 

October by the U.S. Treasury and a new Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) for another ten 

years of foreign aid to Israel, predicted to be up to $4-5 billion per year, is signed with no due 

abidance of Symington & Glenn under “nuclear ambiguity.” The Plaintiff expects “nuclear 

ambiguity” to extend injury to his information gathering and delivery beyond the next U.S. foreign 

aid deliveries to Israel. Aid delivery will be a “final agency action” undeniably proving nuclear 

ambiguity trumps rule of law. 

66. Indirect injuries an inevitable cost the undermining of such an important law as 

Symington & Glenn has on peace and justice have also been mounting. As far back as 1960 the 

CIA correctly predicted that a confidently nuclear-armed Israel would resist pressure to enter a 

peace deal with Palestinians.29 As revealed during 9/11 Commission hearings, the continued 

plight of the Palestinians, and unconditional U.S. support for Israel, were major factors motivating 

the 9/11 attackers to target the United States. The conflict continues to be the longest-running in 

                                                 
27 Grant F. Smith, “How big is the lobby and what does it do?” Presentation at the National Press 
Club, April 10, 2015, slide 3. 
28 Glenn Greenwald, “NSA shares raw intelligence including Americans’ data with Israel,” The 
Guardian, September 11, 2013 
https://www.theguardian.com/world/2013/sep/11/nsa-americans-personal-data-israel-documents  
29 “Implications of the Acquisitions by Israel of a Nuclear Weapons Capability” Special National 

Intelligence Estimate Number 100-80-60, Submitted by the Director of Central Intelligence. 
Approved for release on March 5, 2009. 
http://www.israellobby.org/nukes/1960SNIE_Israeli_Nukes.pdf 
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the region. Non-enforcement of Symington & Glenn is therefore an important factor for 

perpetuating conflict and the constant blowback it generates against the United States. 

67. The motivation behind decades of refusals to enforce Symington & Glenn is no great 

mystery. Every year in the U.S. more than 300 organizations that have the advancement of Israel as 

their top objective raise and distribute approximately $4.0 billion in tax-exempt donations to 

advance their mission in the United States. By 2020, this number is on track to surpass $6 billion.30 

The figures do not include the campaign contributions, in-kind, PAC money, dark money, media 

and public relations support that can accrue to political appointees or elected office holders that 

take actions to quantifiably advance Israeli interests, including upholding “nuclear ambiguity.” 

There is no counterbalancing “special interest.” Under the current system, top officials and their 

political parties are rewarded for “looking the other way,” doublespeak and delivering annual 

foreign aid packages of advanced weapons that Israel would otherwise have to (and could, at the 

expense of its nuclear program) purchase with its own funds. These officials, by thwarting the law, 

force taxpayers and public interest watchdogs to pay the very subsidy Senator Symington sought 

to avoid: that Americans would offset and become unwilling accomplices to Israel’s nuclear 

weapons development program, undermining the NPT and U.S. credibility in the nonproliferation 

effort, and undermining a Middle East peace deal. 

68. The focus of this complaint is entirely domestic in nature. Nuclear ambiguity is the 

unlawful fulcrum the Defendants and their predecessors have employed for decades to illegally 

hoist the lion’s share of U.S. taxpayer funded foreign aid into the coffers of an unlawful recipient. 

It quantifiably injures all Americans who attempt to overcome it and expose the truth. True relief 

                                                 
30 “The Israel Lobby: Israel Affinity Organizations” IAO database by category, name, IRS ruling 

year, employees, volunteers, 2012 revenue, 2020 revenue forecast. http://israellobby.org/bigisrael/ 
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to injury therefore requires removal of the fulcrum, rather than de novo review of any individual or 

class of sunshine law cases, or reimbursement of unjust fees or unpaid court awards. Bona fide 

relief requires rectifying the totality of injuries forthcoming in the immediate future, sustained in 

the past, and restoring rule of law within the executive branch and across complicit federal 

agencies. 
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WHEREFORE, Plaintiff requests this Court: 

(1) Injunctive Relief: The President, U.S. Department of Defense, U.S. Department 

ofTreasury, Central Intelligence Agency, U.S. Department of State and all others in 

active concert or participation in "nuclear ambiguity" are restrained and enjoined from 

directly or indirectly disbursing further U.S. foreign aid to Israel;  

(2) Injunctive Relief: U.S. foreign aid unlawfully provided to Israel since 1978 be clawed 

back for disgorgement either as a rebate to U.S. taxpayers or for use in legal and 

legitimate purposes that serve the common good rather than unlawfully subsidizing 

through offset a foreign nuclear weapons program; 

(3) Injunctive Relief: Declare “nuclear ambiguity” and all of its manifestations in the form 

of continual misrepresentation, gag orders, systemic violations of government sunshine 

laws and all violations of the Administrative Procedure Act and the “Take Care” clause 

to be unlawful; 

(4) Affirmative Relief: The President be ordered to faithfully uphold Symington & Glenn 

Amendments in the future under 28 U.S.C. § 1361, giving the United States district 

court jurisdiction of "an action in the nature of mandamus to compel an officer or 

employee of the United States or any agency thereof to perform a duty owed to the 

plaintiff" and; 

(5) Grant such other and further relief as may deem just and proper. 
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IRmep
Calvert Station 
P.O. Box 32041 
Washington, DC 20007 

http://www.irmep.org 
info@irmep.org 
Phone: 202-342-7325 
Fax: 202-318-8009 

10/26/2011

Alexander Morris - MA-90 
US Department of Energy 
1000 Independence Avenue, SW  
Washington, DC 20585 

RE: Mandatory Declassification Review:  Confidential 1978 DOE Security Office Report - NUMEC

Dear David M. Hardy, 

This is a request for a mandatory declassification review (MDR) under the terms of Section 3.5 of Executive 
Order 13526 of the above referenced report.  According to the office diary of former Atomic Energy 
Commission (AEC) chairman Glenn T. Seaborg, on June 21, 1978 he met for an hour with Bill Knauf and Jim 
Anderson of the DOE Division of Inspection.  They were investigating the diversion of U-235 from the NUMEC 
plant in PA to Israel.  During the interview, they told Seaborg that "some enriched uranium which can be 
identified as coming from Portsmouth, Ohio has been picked up in Israel." (Attachment A1)

On July 12, 1978 Thomas Chang made an appointment with Seaborg to review Bill Knauf's confidential report, 
sending a courier with the report, and then returning it to DOE. (Attachment B2).  Seaborg made penciled 
suggestions to the report, which was returned by courier (Ernie Hodges) to DOE before July 21, 1978. 
(Attachment C3).  We would like the declassification and release of the final DOE report (along with any 
available review drafts with original markings by reviewers such as Seaborg).   

In order to help to determine my status to assess fees, you should know that I am affiliated with an educational, 
noncommercial research institution, and this request is made for a scholarly purpose. However we do not 
request waiver of all fees even though disclosure of the requested information to IRmep is in the public interest 
because it is likely to contribute significantly to public understanding of the operations or activities of the 
government and is not primarily in my commercial interest.  We will pay up to $25 to defray duplication/CD 
burning costs. Although we do not formally request expedited processing, we do hope to be processed 
as a high priority.

Thank you for your consideration of this request. 

Sincerely,

Grant F. Smith 
Director of Research 

Attachments

1 Glenn T. Seaborg Papers, Manuscript Division, Library of Congress, Box 556, Folder "Nuclear Materials and Equipment
Corporation," Office Diary Entry 6/21/1978
2 Glenn T. Seaborg Papers, Manuscript Division, Library of Congress, Box 556, Folder "Nuclear Materials and Equipment
Corporation," Office Diary Entry 7/12/1978
3 Glenn T. Seaborg Papers, Manuscript Division, Library of Congress, Box 556, Folder "Nuclear Materials and Equipment
Corporation," Office Diary Entry 7/21/1978
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